CCASE:

SOL (MSHA) V. WALSENBURG SAND & GRAVEL
DDATE:

19891107

TTEXT:



~2233
Federal M ne Safety and Health Review Commi ssion (FF.MS. HRC.)
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR, CIVIL PENALTY PROCEEDI NGS
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. WEST 88-96-M
PETI TI ONER A. C. No. 05-03920-05502
V. Docket No. WEST 88-142-M

A.C. No. 05-03920-05503
WALSENBURG SAND & GRAVEL
COVPANY, | NCORPORATED, Vezzani Pit
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Margaret A. Mller, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor
U.S. Departnent of Labor, Denver, Col orado,
For Petitioner;
Ernest U. Sandoval, Esq., Wal senburg, Col orado,
For Respondent.

Bef ore: Judge Cett

This case is before ne upon the petition for civil penalty
filed by the Secretary of Labor pursuant to Section 105(d) of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801 et
seq., the "Act", for the alleged violation of three regulatory
st andar ds.

The Secretary charges the operator of the Vezzani Pit,
Wal senburg Sand & Gravel Conpany, Inc. (Walsenburg), with the
violation of 30 C.F.R [ 50.30, 0O 56.9032, and O 56. 14001

Wal senburg filed a tinmely appeal fromthe Secretary's
proposal for penalty. After notice to the parties the matter cane
on for hearing before nme at Puebl o, Colorado. Oral and
document ary evi dence was introduced and the matter was submtted
for decision without the filing of post-hearing briefs.

The general issues before me are whether Wal senburg Sand &
Gravel violated the cited regulatory standards, whether or not
the violations were significant and substantial, and, if
violations are found, what is the appropriate civil penalty to be
assessed in accordance with Section 110(i) of the Act.
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The federal mine inspector, Lyle K. Marti, testified he inspected
the Vezzani Pit and found it to be a small internttent seasona
operation. It consisted of a pit, a crusher with screening
facilities, a maintenance shop and a hot plant. Raw material is
extracted fromthe earth and processed. The product produced is
used in asphalt paving and road construction

The parties stipulated the operation was a small one. \Wen
the pit is open only three enployees on average operate the
facility. On the day of the inspection the plant and crusher were
not running and only one enpl oyee was at the site.

Docket Nunmber WEST 88-96-M
Citation No. 3065794

When | nspector Marti arrived at the mine office, the first
thing he did was review the required records. One of the required
records is a quarterly enployment report, MSHA Form 7000-2, which
states the nunber of hours worked and the average number of
enpl oyees who work at that pit during the quarter. This report
must be submitted quarterly to the Health Analysis Center in
Denver within 15 days after the end of the quarter. The inspector
found the first and second quarter reports were tinely subnitted
but the third quarter report due by October 15th had not been
subnmitted as of Novenber 4th, the date of his inspection.

I nspector Marti informed Evelyn Vezzani, Secretary-Treasurer
and wife of Louis P. Vezzani, the President of the corporation
t hat Wal senburg was in violation of 30 C.F.R [ 50.30 since the
third quarter report had not been submitted in time to arrive at
the Denver center by Cctober 15th. Ms. Vezzani told himthe
report had been overl ooked. She explained that they were
closing-out their business at the pit so they had a | ot of
different reports to get out and the third quarterly report was
just overl ooked.

The inspector testified that the citati on was abated before
he arrived at the pit the next day, by Respondent's mailing the
required report to the center in Denver

Louis P. Vezzani, Respondent's President, testified that the
failure to send in MSHA Form 7000-2 within 15 days of the end of
the third quarter was "strictly a clerical oversight" on the part
of his wife.
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The undi sputed testinony clearly established a violation of 30
C.F.R 050.30. Citation No. 3065794 alleging a violation of 30
C.F.R 050.30 for failure to submt the third quarterly report,
MSHA Form 7000-2, to the MSHA Heal th and Safety Analysis Center
within 15 days after the end of the third cal endar quarter, is
af firmed.

The Secretary originally characterized the violation as not
significant and substantial and proposed a penalty of $20. At
heari ng counsel for the Secretary contended that the negligence
was high and proposed to increase the penalty from $20 to $100.

In determ ning the appropriate penalty for this violation
have considered the statutory criteria set forth in section

110(i) of the Act including the operator's small size. | credit
the undi sputed testinony that the failure to submit the report in
a tinmely manner was due only to a clerical oversight. | see no

basis for deternining negligence to be high enough to warrant the
hi gher penalty proposed. | find the appropriate penalty for this
violation is the $20 penalty originally proposed by the
Secretary.

Citation No. 3065796

This citation alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R 56.9032,
whi ch provi des:

"Di ppers, buckets, scraper blades, and sinilar noveable
parts shall be secured or lowered to the ground when
not in use.”

Approxi mately 110 feet fromthe west side of the crusher
I nspector Marti observed a Caterpillar road grader that had a 12
foot | ong blade. The road grader was parked unattended with the
bl ade in a raised position. The bl ade was not secured or | owered
to the ground as required by the cited safety standard.

The bl ade had not been |lowered to the ground because the
grader mght have to be pulled a few feet in order to start it.
The grader could not be "pull-started” with the blade on the
ground.

I nspector Marti testified that he was concerned that there
could be a nmechanical or a hydraulic failure that could
accidentally cause the blade to cone down. |If someone were
working with their foot under the blade when it cane down it
could cause a permanent disabling injury.
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M. Louis Vezzani testified that without starting and running the

nmot or of the road grader, there was "no possible way" that the
bl ade could fall or conme down. The engine has to be running in
order to nechanically power the blade up or down. The blade |ift
is mechanically gear driven. It is not a hydraulic mechani sm
Consequently, there is no possibility that there could be a

rel ease of hydraulic pressure that would drop the blade. The
operator has to start the engine and nechanically |ower the

bl ade. M. Vezzani has used the road grader since 1961 to

mai ntain the pit access road and there has never been an injury
i nvol vi ng that equi prment.

I nspector Marti stated that the violation was abated during
the afternoon of the day of his inspection by an operator who
started the engine of the road grader and | owered the bl ade.

This citation, No. 3065796, was originally nmarked and issued
as a non-S&S violation. At the hearing counsel for the Secretary
stated that she believed the evidence woul d show that the
violation was significant and substantial and that the negligence
was very high. Counsel proposed to anend the assessed penalty
from $20 to $200.

The Conmmi ssion has stated that a "significant and
substantial" violation is described in section 104(d) (1) of the
M ne Act as a violation "of such nature as could significantly
and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a coal or
other mne safety or health hazard.” A violation is properly

desi gnated significant and substantial "if, based upon the
particular facts surrounding the violation there exists a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
in an injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenent

Di vi sion, National Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822.

In Mat hi es Coal Conmpany, 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion further explained its interpretation of the term
"significant and substantial" as foll ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory
safety standard is significant and substantial under
Nati onal Gypsum the Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1)
the underlying violation of a nmandatory safety
standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is, a
measure of danger to safety--contributed to by the
violation; (3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury; and (4) a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the injury in question wll
be of a reasonably serious nature.
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On review and eval uation of the evidence I find that a
preponderance of the evidence fails to establish the third
el ement of the Mathies Coal formula. A preponderance of the
evidence fails to establish a reasonable |ikelihood that the
hazard contributed to will result in an injury. This finding is
consistent with the | ow exposure to the hazard and the history of
no injury involving the road grader since it was acquired by the
operator in 1961.

Considering the criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the
Act, it is found under the particular facts surrounding this
violation, that the Secretary's original proposed penalty of $20
is appropriate for the violation.

Docket WEST 88-142-M
Citation No. 3065797
This citation reads as foll ows:

"The fan bl ade on the notor-grader (CAT.- NO 12 SN
8T16519) was not guarded agai nst personal contact."”

The citation alleges a significant and substantial violation
of 30 C.F.R [ 56.14001 which provides as foll ows:
0 56. 14001 Movi ng nmachi ne part

CGears; sprockets; chains; drive, head, tail, and takeup
pul I eys; flywheels; couplings; shafts; sawbl ades; fan
inlets; and simlar exposed noving machi ne parts which
may be contacted by persons, and which may cause injury
to persons, shall be guarded.

I nspector Marti testified that the same Caterpillar
roadgrader cited for failure to | ower the blade was also cited
for a violation of 30 C F. R [ 56.14001 because he believed the
bl ade of the engine fan was exposed to personal contact. He
testified it had no guard that would prevent accidental finger
contact. The engine had no side panels. If the notor had side
panel s, Inspector Marti would have considered this adequate
protection fromthe hazard of the fan blade and woul d not have
i ssued the citation. Contact with the blade coul d cause serious
injury such as loss of a finger
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Respondent presented evi dence that the road grader was used only
to maintain the access road to the pit. It was manufactured in
1951 without any side panels. Its engine fan had and still has, a
shroud which is a sem -covering around the fan bl ade. The shroud
covers and thus guards half the blade. Respondent has owned the
road grader for the last 27 years and there has never been an
accident or injury involving that piece of equipnent.

There has been no one working at the pit site since Cctober
15, 1987, approximately 20 days before the inspection. Before
that date the work at the pit had been seasonal and intermttent.
At the end of the access road leading to the site is a gate that
was kept | ocked except when soneone was working at the pit. Wen
the pit was open and worki ng an average of three men operated the
facility. Consequently, exposure to the hazard of the partially
guarded fan bl ade was | ow

Louis Vezzani testified that after the inspection he abated
the alleged violation by renoving the equi pnent fromthe mnine
site. Except for purposes of abatement the equi pment was | ast
used at the mne site on Cctober 15, 1987, which was
approxi mately 20 days before the Novenmber 4th inspection. No work
had been done at the mne site since October 15, 1987.

I nspector Marti testified that he never returned to the pit
after his inspection, but on the basis of information given to
hi m by respondent, all violations were abated within the extended
time he allowed for abatement.

A preponderance of the credible testinony established a
violation of 30 C.F.R 0O 56.14001 in that the revolving fan bl ade
was i nadequately guarded.

The Secretary originally assessed a penalty of $54 for this
violation. At the beginning of the hearing counsel for the
Secretary stated that "primarily due to the |ack of abatement of
the violation" the proposed penalty should be increased to $400.

I find, however, that the unrebutted testinony of M. Vezzani and
the testinony of Inspector Marti clearly shows there was an
abat enment of the violation.

The Secretary has the burden of proving that a violation is
signi ficant and substantial. Under Mathies Coal the Secretary of
Labor must prove all four elements of the Mathies fornmula. The
third elenent is "a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
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contributed to will result in an injury." A "reasonable
likelihood" is nore than just a possibility. The evidence in this
case established that the revol ving bl ade of the fan was
partially guarded by a shroud, that the road grader was used only
to maintain the access to the pit, and that only three people
seasonally and intermttently worked at the site. Exposure to
contact with the fan blade of the notor was very linted. Upon
eval uation of the actual circunstances surrounding this violation
I find that a preponderance of the evidence established a
possibility that the hazard contributed to will result in an
injury but not a likelihood. Therefore, | find that the violation
was not significant and substanti al

Considering the statutory criteria set forth in section
110(i) of the Act and the circunstances surrounding this
violation, | find the appropriate penalty for the violation is
$40.

For the foregoing reasons | enter the follow ng:

ORDER

1. Citation No. 3065794 and the Secretary's origina
assessment of a $20 penalty is affirnmed.

2. Citation No. 3065796 and the Secretary's origina
assessed penalty of $20 is affirnmed.

3. Citation No. 3065797 is nodified to strike the
characterization of the violation as significant and substantia
and a civil penalty of $40 is assessed.

The respondent is directed to pay to the Secretary of Labor
a civil penalty in the sumof $80 within 30 days of the date of
this order.

August F. Cetti
Admi ni strative Law Judge



